1990

# Jesse E. Smith, Beth M. Smith v. Salli Smith West, Ken Anderson and Charles L. Appleby, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals is established by Rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, for the reason that this case was initially filed with the Supreme Court of the State of Utah and transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a Judgment of the Honorable Dean E. Conder, Senior Judge, sitting in the Fifth District Court for Washington County, finding no cause of action on a claim for specific performance of a right of first refusal on the sale of an interest in real property in the State of Utah.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issue presented by the appeal is whether or not an oral telephone conversation may effectively waive a right of

first refusal held by multiple parties in a piece of real property located within the State of Utah when there is no compliance with the Statute of Frauds, 25-5-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

#### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES OR RULES

The statute that is believed to be determinative in this matter is 25-5-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. A case which may also be of assistance is G.G.A. v. Laventis, 773 P.2d 841 (Utah App., 1989). This case is reproduced in total as part of the addendum to this brief.

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

This case was brought to seek specific performance of a right of first refusal when the Defendant, Salli Smith West, sold her one-third interest in the Pah Tempe Hot Springs property located between Hurricane and LaVerkin, Utah, to the Defendants, Ken Anderson and Charles L. Appleby, Jr.

#### COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This matter was tried before the court without a jury on April 21, 1989. The court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment, and this appeal was brought thereafter.

#### DISPOSITION AT TRIAL COURT

At the trial court level, the Plaintiffs' Complaint to enforce the Plaintiffs' right of first refusal to purchase Defendant Salli Smith West's interest in the property was dismissed with prejudice and the title in the Pah Tempe Hot

Springs property held by Salli Smith West was ordered vested in the Defendants, Kenneth R. Anderson and Charles L. Appleby, Jr.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the settlement of the estate of Elias Penn Smith, the Plaintiffs, Jesse Smith, Genevieve Smith, Beth M. Smith, and the Defendant, Salli Smith West, received title to the property known as the Pah Tempe Hot Springs located just north of Hurricane, Utah, and south of LaVerkin, Utah. (T.9, Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 1, included in the addendum to this brief.) Each of the recipients of the property from the estate of Elias Penn Smith also stipulated that they would have a right of first refusal should any of the other recipients of the property desire to sell their interest in the property. Beginning on October 12, 1985, Salli Smith West gave written notice that she was interested in selling her one-third interest in the Pah Tempe property. (See Defendants' Exhibit No. 10, T.12.) On September 4, 1986, Charles Appleby went to Santa Fe, New Mexico, the home of Salli Smith West, and modified and extended a July 23, 1986, option to purchase the property by drafting an additional option to purchase dated September 4, 1986. (T.131-133.) On or about September 25, 1986, Salli Smith West telephoned Jesse Smith to inform him of her intention to sell the Pah Tempe property to Mr. Appleby and Mr. Anderson, the co-defendants. (T.73 and 74.) On or about September 29, 1986, the Plaintiff, Jesse Smith, did send a letter to Salli Smith West asking for a copy of the



Anderson and Appleby offer to purchase. (See Plaintiffs' Exhibit 4, a copy of which is attached to this brief in the Addendum.) (T.35) On or about October 2, 1986, Salli Smith West completed the transfer from herself to the Defendants Anderson and Appleby. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 7, T.68)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The telephone conversation of September 25, 1986, between Salli Smith West and Jesse Smith could not convey the interest of the Plaintiffs, which was a right of first refusal in the property in violation of the statute of frauds.

The defendants cannot claim the doctrine of merger to extinguish the right of first refusal in the deed from the estate of Elias Penn Smith for the reason that all of the Defendants were fully aware of the right of first refusal in the Plaintiffs.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT INCORRECTLY RULED THAT THE PLAINTIFF COULD ORALLY WAIVE OR CONVEY A VESTED RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL TO PURCHASE AN INTEREST IN REAL PROPERTY IN THE STATE OF UTAH.

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah has ruled that an option to purchase real estate is an "interest in real estate" and within the Statute of Frauds. (Coombs v. Ouzounian, 465 P.2d 356 [Utah, 1970]) This principal has been followed more recently in the case of Williams v. Singleton, 725 P.2d 421 (Utah, 1986). The Supreme Court in the Williams, supra., decision relied on the language found in 25-5-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, that

requires a contract to sell land be "in writing subscribed by the party to whom the sale is to be made". In this case now before the Court, the trial court found

. . . Mr. Smith said that he had no desire to individually meet the offer of Anderson and Appleby. The Court finds, based upon the credibility of the testimony of Salli Smith, that during this telephone conversation Jesse E. Smith further assured Salli Smith West that he would send her a letter to the effect that he would not exercise his first right of refusal. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, paragraph 18 and attached in the addendum to this brief)

The trial court also found that in his letter of September 29, 1986, Jesse E. Smith promised to send "a letter signed by Beth, Gen, and myself releasing you from our option of first right of refusal." (Findings of Fact, paragraph 19) The trial court specifically found that Jesse E. Smith did not provide the letter signed by all of the Plaintiffs. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 23) The trial court also found that the Defendant Salli Smith West reasonably relied on the telephone conversation and the letter of September 29, 1986, and closed the sale to Anderson and Appleby on October 2, 1986, four days before she sent the documents requested by Jesse E. Smith in his letter of September 29, 1986. (Findings of Fact, Paragraphs 20 through 25)

It is the contention of the Appellants that the trial court improperly relied on the telephone conversation of September 25, 1986, and the letter of Jesse E. Smith of September 29, 1986, when the court stated in paragraph 25 of the Findings of Fact:

By reason of Jesse E. Smith's oral and written representations, he gave up any claim he may have

had under his right of first refusal at that time,  
and is now estopped from asserting the same both by  
the principles of equitable and promissory estoppel.

The trial court committed reversible error when it failed to apply the Statute of Frauds to this fact situation. As pointed out above, an option is subject to the Statute of Frauds. (Coombs v. Ouzounian, and Williams v. Singleton, supra.) This Court has held that a right of first refusal is different from an option to purchase because a right of first refusal is not binding unless the offeror decides to sell the property. (G.G.A. v. Laventis, 773 P.2d 841 (Utah App., 1989) In the present case Salli Smith West did actually decide to sell her interest in the property and thereby made the Plaintiffs' right of first refusal the equivalent of an option. That interest in land could not be conveyed without compliance with the Statute of Frauds. The Utah Supreme Court has said that the purpose of the Statute of Frauds requirement that a grant of realty be by deed or conveyance in writing and subscribed by the granting party is to protect important matters like conveyance of realty from frauds and perjuries. (Guinand v. Walton, 450 P.2d 467, appeal after remand 480 P.2d 137 [Utah, 1969]) In this case there was no writing subscribed by any of the Plaintiff's conveying their right of first refusal.

#### POINT TWO

THE DEFENDANTS CANNOT CLAIM THAT THE DOCTRINE OF MERGER EXTINGUISHED THE PLAINTIFFS' RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL IN THE DEED FROM THE ESTATE OF ELIAS PENN SMITH BECAUSE ALL OF THE DEFENDANTS


WERE AWARE OF THE PLAINTIFFS' RIGHT IN THE PROPERTY.

At the time of the trial the Defendants raised the claim that the Plaintiffs' right of first refusal was merged into the deed from the estate of Elias Penn Smith and was extinguished in that instrument because that deed did not reserve the right of first refusal stipulated by Jesse E. Smith, Genevieve A. Smith, and Salli Smith West in the estate.(see Plaintiffs' exhibit #1 and Defendants' exhibit #8 and #9; also see T.20-21) The Defendants supported their claim with the Oklahoma case of Davis v. Davis, 632 P.2d 769 (Okla. App., 1981) The Plaintiffs answered that the Utah case of G.G.A. v. Laventis, 773 P.2d 841 (Utah App., 1989) was more similar to the instant facts. The trial court specifically found that the signatories of the stipulation in the estate of Elias Penn Smith intended the right of first refusal to continue between themselves as tenants in common and as family members after the distribution of the estate.( see Findings of Fact, paragraph 12) This finding of the court is well founded in the trial transcript where Salli Smith West (T.60-61), and Charles A. Appleby (T.131-132), and Kenneth R. Anderson (T. 139) all admitted to being aware of the Plaintiffs' right of first refusal prior to the option to purchase between the Defendants dated September 4, 1986. With all of the parties aware of the right of first refusal and the trial court's reliance on the G.G.A. case, supra, the Defendants cannot rely on the doctrine of merger to extinguish the right of first refusal held by the Plaintiffs.

CONCLUSION