1990

Jesse E. Smith and Beth M. Smith v. Salli Smith
West, Ken Anderson, and Charles L. Appleby, Jr. :
Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The standard of review under Utah law provides that a trial court's findings shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous. In light of this standard and the exclusive prerogative

of the trial court to weigh the credibility of the witnesses, it becomes incumbent upon this Court to note the various contradictions in Jesse Smith's testimony, particularly when compared to that of his sister Salli Smith West. A plethora of evidence supports the trial court's ruling.

II.

Appellants have failed to sustain a high evidentiary standard to justify a decree of specific performance in equity.

III.

Section 25-5-3 of the Utah Code was satisfied by Exhibit P-4, a letter drafted and signed as a matter of law by Jesse Smith. This letter is not precatory in nature, and is fully integrated to the subject property. The signature requirement of the statute of frauds is satisfied by the typed signature of Jesse Smith when the letter was concededly drafted, signed, and mailed by him to his sister Salli Smith West.

IV.

Any alleged right of first refusal was extinguished and merged in the Decree of Final Distribution and deed issuing from the estate of Elias Penn Smith. The merger doctrine operated to eliminate any agreements not collateral to the taking of title or to encumbrances regarding the property. Nothing could be less collateral than a right of first refusal. Insofar as the Decree of Distribution and the deed fail to mention any such right, the same is extinguished as a matter of law and cannot be reasserted absent an attack on the probate proceedings bottomed in fraud.

V.

Jesse Smith is barred from asserting the statute of frauds as a defense or, for that matter, from asserting any defense by the doctrines of both promissory and equitable estoppel. The trial court found that Jesse Smith had, both orally and in writing, advised his sister, Salli Smith West, to proceed with the sale of the property to Respondents. The trial court further found that Salli had reasonably relied on the statements of her brother to her detriment. The doctrines of estoppel, as set forth in J.P. Koch, Inc. v. J.C. Penny Co., Inc., 534 P.2d 903 (Utah 1975), are clearly applicable in the instant case.

VI.

Jesse Smith lacks the requisite clean hands to assert any equitable rights before the trial court. Jesse came before the court concededly admitting that he drafted and signed Exhibit P-4 absent any intent to comply with its terms. Indeed, Jesse conceded on cross examination that his interaction with his sister was merely an artifice to get her to perform certain acts and that he did not intend to act in accordance with either his oral or written representations. As equity demands fair and equitable conduct in those seeking it, Jesse Smith's request for equity must be denied.

VII.

Beth Smith's claim is barred by the statute of frauds, a lack of mutuality, and her failure to provide the trial court with any testimony. As Beth Smith was not a party to the stipulation, there is no covenant running to her, nor can she benefit from her

husband's testimony. Further, as Beth Smith failed to testify, the Intermediate Court of Appeals has previously held that she cannot reassert her claim on appeal or somehow require a remand to now assert a claim which, by her actions, has been conclusively waived at trial.

VIII.

Though not an appellant, Genevieve Smith lacks standing to assert any first right of refusal before the trial court. Approximately one year prior to trial, Genevieve conveyed her one-third interest, without notice to her co-tenants, to a Nevada corporation. As rights of first refusal are freely assignable, and her deed contained no reservations, she no longer is a proper party in interest to assert that claim.

ARGUMENT

I.

APPROPRIATE STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW COMPEL THE AFFIRMATION OF THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT.

Prior to July 1, 1985, the Utah Constitution, art. VIII, § 9, specifically set forth a greater standard of review in equitable cases. [See e.g., Reed v. Alvey, 610 P.2d 1374 (Utah 1980); Bown v. Loveland, 678 P.2d 292 (Utah 1984).] Under this standard, the appellate court cannot reverse the trial court judgment unless the evidence in the case clearly preponderated against its findings. In Adams v. Gubler, 731 P.2d 494 (Utah 1986), however, Justice Durham, speaking for a unanimous Utah Supreme Court, noted that even though the former constitutional section had been

redrafted, Rule 52(a) U.R.C.P., which became effective January 1, 1987, provided that findings of fact "shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous." [Id. at 496, n. 3] This standard applied regardless of whether the case is one in equity or one in law. [See Barker v. Francis, 741 P.2d 548 (Utah App. 1987); see also, Lemon v. Coates, 735 P.2d 58 (Utah 1987).] Most recently, in Judd Family Limited Partnership v. Hutchings, 141 Utah Adv. Rep. 8, Justice Howe stated the applicable standard as follows:

Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, forbids us from setting aside factual findings unless clearly erroneous, giving due regard to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses. We find nothing in the trial court's findings of fact which would suggest that they are erroneous, let alone "clearly erroneous." In Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985), we stated that we would not overturn a finding of fact without first marshaling all the evidence supporting the finding and then demonstrating that when viewed in the light most favorable to the trial court, the evidence is clearly insufficient to support that finding. [Id. at 9]

The second portion of Rule 52(a) U.R.C.P. indicates that due regard "shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." As before stated, in this case, the trial court was required to judge the credibility of witnesses. The trial court was able to view both the Appellant Jesse Smith and Respondents' grantor Salli Smith West. Having heard their testimonies and, indeed, having, with permission of counsel, made certain en camera inquiries relative to the earlier testimony of Jesse Smith, the trial court was uniquely positioned to determine the veracity of their testimonies. As shall be set

forth more succinctly in Point VI hereafter, the trial court found the credibility of Jesse Smith lacking in the instant case, and Judge Condor's findings are well supported by his belief in the testimony of Salli Smith West. Appropriate appellate standards mandate that those findings be sustained on appeal.

II.

APPELLANTS HAVE NOT MET THE HIGH EVIDENTIARY STANDARD REQUIRED TO SUPPORT A DECREE FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

Appellants below sought specific performance of a claimed right of first refusal. The nature of the specific-performance remedy required that they meet a high evidentiary standard to justify a favorable decree. [See Pitcher v. Lauritzen, 18 Utah 2d 368, 423 P.2d 491, at 493 (1967).] 71 Am. Jur. 2d Specific Performance § 208 (1973), states the applicable standard as follows:

Where an action is brought for specific performance, the established rule is that more than a mere preponderance of testimony is required to establish the existence of the contract when its existence is denied. In order that specific performance of a contract may be decreed, the evidence of the making of the contract must be clear and convincing, or as stated in some cases, clear, cogent, and convincing, or strong and conclusive.

In the instant case, to establish their claim for specific performance, Appellants had to clearly establish at trial that the "right of first refusal" had not been waived, merged into a subsequent Decree of Final Distribution and deed or that they were not estopped from asserting the same or that byth had not otherwise transferred or waived their rights, if any.

In the pleadings before the court, Appellants claimed

that as co-tenants they held a right of first refusal. As to Beth Smith, this is patently untrue, and, by the time of trial, as to Genevieve Smith, it was also untrue. Furthermore, there was no mention in the pleadings whatsoever that Appellant Jesse Smith had both verbally and in writing promised his sister, Salli Smith West, that he would provide her a written waiver of whatever first right of refusal Appellants claimed. Jesse's testimony at trial, however, was contradictory and failed to establish either the good faith or clean hands required of those seeking specific performance. As a result, the trial court could not rule in favor of the equitable remedies Appellants sought. [See e.g. Ferris v. Jennings, 595 P.2d 857 (Utah 1978).]

III.

THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS AS TO JESSE SMITH'S CLAIM HAS BEEN SATISFIED IN THE INSTANT CASE.

While in point one of Appellants' brief the applicability of Section 25-5-3 of the Utah Code is discussed at length, Respondents believe that Section 25-5-1 is more applicable to the instant case. At trial, Appellants sought enforcement of an alleged right of first refusal. Defendant Salli Smith West claimed that right did not exist as a legal requirement or that, secondarily, if it did exist, at least one of the Plaintiffs had waived the same in writing.

As to Jesse Smith's claim, Section 25-5-1 of the Utah Code states as follows:

No estate or interest in real property,
other than leases for a term not exceeding one
year, nor any trust or power over or concer-

ning real property or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created, granted, assigned, surrendered or declared otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized by writing. [Emphasis added.]

The statute of frauds does not require that a signature to the memorandum satisfying it be in any particular form or be handwritten. As stated in 72 Am. Jur. 2d Statute of Frauds § 358:

There is no requirement that the signature to a memorandum required by the statute of frauds be in any particular form [it] need not be signed in ink. It may be signed by lead pencil. . . . except where the statute . . . requiring . . . an "actual manual subscription," it is well established that it is not essential to satisfy the statute of frauds that the memorandum required thereby be signed by the hand of the party to be charged. The . . . signature may be affixed by a stamp, or it may be typewritten or printed mechanically, if, but only if, by signing in any of these methods the party whose signature is essential intends to authenticate the instrument as his act. . . .

The signature may consist of any name or symbol used by a party with the intention of constituting it his signature. [Citations omitted.]

Genevieve Smith is not an Appellant in the instant case. Beth Smith neither acquired, at the outset, any first right of refusal nor testified at trial. As to Jesse Smith, however, the trial court received into evidence Exhibit P-4, a letter which he concededly drafted and mailed to his sister, Salli Smith West. Paragraph two of that letter states as follows:

What I will need from you is a copy of their offer to buy properly signed by them and notarized [sic]. Also a copy of the sales

agreement. I will give you a letter signed by Beth, Gen, And [sic] myself releasing you from our option of first right of refusal.
[Appendix 4] [Emphasis added.]

The trial court found that Exhibit P-4 memorialized Jesse's oral representations made to his sister Salli Smith West. Not precatory in nature, Jesse Smith's letter, which, at the very least, binds him, states that he would not claim any first right of refusal. Findings of fact 17 through 23 set forth the nature of the oral and written representations of the Appellant Jesse Smith and Defendant Salli Smith West's appropriate compliance with the conditions precedent to Jesse's oral and written agreement to release his "first right of refusal." [See also, T. at 69, 73-76, 88, 95-96, 98, and 104.]

The recent Idaho case, George W. Watkins Family v. Messenger, 115 Idaho 386, 766 P.2d 1267 (Idaho App. 1988), held that the word "subscribed", similar to that in Utah's statute of frauds, meant that the "signature" may be any symbol made or "adopted by a party, with an actual or apparent attempt to authenticate the writing and give it force and effect". The Idaho court noted that, while the traditional form of a signature is normally handwritten, the Idaho statute, similar to Utah's, does not require an actual manual subscription, and, for that reason, the signature may be written in pencil, typed, printed, or made with a rubber stamp or impressed into the paper. [Id., citing Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 134, comment a (1981).]

In Salt Lake City v. Hanson, 425 P.2d 773 (Utah 1967), Chief Justice Crockett defined the word "signature" as follows:

In regard to a signature, it is the intent rather than the form of the act that is important. While one's signature is usually made by writing his name, the same purpose can be accomplished by placing any writing, indicia or symbol which the signor chooses to adopt and use as his signature and by which it may be proved: e.g., by finger or thumb prints, by a cross or other mark, or by any type of mechanically reproduced or stamped facsimile of his signature, as effectively as by his own handwriting. [Id. at 774]

In the instant case, Jesse Smith introduced P-4 as his letter and, further, testified that he had mailed it to the Defendant Salli Smith West. Indeed, both of the parties accepted P-4 as authentic, and there was no issue as to it having been dated, typed and mailed by Jesse Smith. [T 44-45] Clearly, Salli Smith West also regarded the letter as genuine and relied on the same to her detriment, though she was subsequently sued by Jesse Smith and her other "co-tenants". [T 75-76, 88-90]

On cross examination regarding P-4, Jesse Smith's letter of September 29, Jesse Smith conceded as follows:

Q. [BY MR. HUGHES] And in that letter, you state, "Send me the documents, and I'll give you the release"?

A. [BY JESSE SMITH] How many times have I said "yes" to that?

. . . .

Q. BY MR. HUGHES: And did -- what I am saying is did you state in that letter "Send me the documents, but if I don't like the terms I discover, I'll refuse to give you a release"?

A. Well, I would guess that would be understood.

Q. Oh. And where would it be understood from D-4, [sic] that that was your intent, Mr. Smith?

A. It wouldn't, I guess. The way it's written. [T 102-103]

Jesse Smith wrote, dated and subscribed P-4, which satisfied the requirements of § 25-5-1 of the Utah Code. P-4 is not precatory; it is integrated to Respondents' purchase of the subject property. Jesse Smiths' claim before the trial court and on appeal that the statute of frauds has not been satisfied must be rejected.

IV.

THE DECREE OF FINAL DISTRIBUTION AND DEED ISSUED CONCURRENT THERETO IN THE PROBATE OF ELIAS PENN SMITH'S ESTATE MERGED ANY CLAIMED RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL.

Respondents take issue with the finding of the trial court that the right of first refusal, as set forth in the Stipulation and Petition for Distribution, was not properly merged by the Decree of Final Distribution and deed concluding the probate of Elias Penn Smith. These latter documents were collectively recorded as Entry No. 185994 in the Records of Washington County on August 3, 1977. [See D-8, Exhibit B thereto; Exhibit B being separately marked as D-9.]

The trial court, on the basis of G.G.& A., Inc. v. Leventis, 773 P.2d 841 (Utah App. 1989), held that the right of first refusal set forth in the Stipulation and Petition for Distribution, executed seven months prior thereto and marked as Plaintiff's Exhibit P-1, was a collateral agreement surviving the Decree of Final Distribution and deed regarding the subject

property which issued therefrom. In its Memorandum Decision, the trial court stated as follows:

The Defendants' contend that any Right of First Refusal contained in the stipulation was merged into the Decree of Distribution and deed. They cite the case of Davis v. Davis, (Okla. App., 632 P.2d 769) as their authority for the claim. This court finds that case is distinguishable. The Utah case of G.G.A., vs Leventis, (107 Utah Adv. Rep. 65) is more in point. The agreement of First Refusal is certainly a collateral agreement to the division and distribution of the property in the estate.

Respondents, despite the trial court's ruling, nonetheless, must strongly urge on appeal that rights of first refusal are not collateral to the title of property and, as such, cannot be excepted therefrom by either the unilateral or mutual intent of the parties. Indeed, it is difficult to see how such a direct reservation, if valid, is anything but directly connected to the nature and quality of title taken. In making this assertion, Respondents refer this Court to the case of Secor v. Knight, 716 P.2d 790 (Utah 1986). [See also, Dobrusky v. Isbell, 740 P.2d 1325 (Utah 1987); El Sol Corp. v. Jones, 97 N.M. 645, 642 P.2d 1104 (1982).] In the Secor case, Justice Durham, speaking for a unanimous Utah Supreme Court, stated that Utah has long accepted the doctrine of merger. Thereafter, Justice Durham stated the general rule of merger as follows:

[O]n delivery and acceptance of the deed the provisions of the underlying contract for the conveyance are deemed extinguished or superseded by the deed. The basis for imposing the doctrine of merger is not due to any peculiar sanctity attaching to the deed itself, but because it is regarded as the final repository

of the agreement which led to its execution.
[Id. at 792] [Citations omitted.]

Justice Durham then proceeded to distinguish between those contractual terms collateral to the agreement to convey property, and therefore not merged by deed, and those agreements and covenants which related directly to the taking of title and encumbrances on the property which, by their nature, cannot be considered collateral because they relate to the same subject matter as does the deed. Her discussion on page 793 of the Secor decision is illuminative:

For example, in Stubbs v. Hemmert, [567 P.2d 168 (Utah 1977)] this court found that the terms in the underlying contract relating to the removal of air compressors from a piece of property were collateral to the agreement to convey the property and were therefore not extinguished by the deed. See also Kelsey v. Hansen 18 Utah 2d 226, 419 P.2d 198 (1966) (recognizing the existence of cases in equity which result in nonmerger, but declining to apply nonmerger under the facts of that case). In this regard, covenants relating to title and encumbrances are not considered to be collateral because they relate to the same subject matter as does the deed. [Id. at 793]

The Secor decision clearly mandates that terms and covenants which directly relate to the title of the property or to encumbrances thereon are not collateral, but, as they impinge upon the title itself, they are merged into any subsequent deed. Clearly, only obligations truly collateral to the title itself would survive the deed and not be extinguished by it. Ultimately, if the terms relate to the taking of the title itself, or impinge on the quality thereof, they cannot be collateral despite any contrary intent of the parties. With regard to the defendant's

contention in the Secor case, Justice Durham stated the latter rule as follows:

As this case involves terms relating to title, which are not collateral, the Knights' reliance on intent is misplaced. [Id.]

The Decree of Final Distribution, and the deed which was recorded as a part thereof, conveyed the property in question in differing amounts and to differing parties than was contained in the Stipulation and Petition for Distribution. [See D 8, D 9, cf. P 1.] Indeed, Beth Smith suddenly rises to the status of a grantee under Exhibit B to D-8 and D-9, and neither document mentions the right of first refusal, which would have obviously encumbered the nature of the title taken by the various grantees. Salli Smith West testified that she offered the property to her family purely as a matter of courtesy; otherwise, she did not recognize that right. [T 77-79] Once again, regardless of the parties' intent, the documents concluding the probate of Elias Penn Smith, recorded in Washington County, are conclusive and merge any title reservations. [D 8 and D 9, D 9 being attached as Exhibit B to D-8]

As the title was taken free and clear of any alleged right of first refusal, that right mentioned in the stipulation is thereby extinguished. Simply stated, a right of first refusal is not collateral; it impinges directly on the title to real estate. Regardless of the intent of the parties, therefore, it is extinguished by the Decree of Final of Distribution and deed issuing out of the probate court. Once Elias Penn Smith's probate was concluded, the Decree of Final Distribution and deed issued thereby

became final and conclusive and are not subject to collateral attack except for fraud. [See also, Miller v. Walker Bank and Trust Company, 404 P.2d 675 (Utah 1965); Davis v. Davis, 632 P.2d 769 (Okla. App. 1981); Stehenson v. Hall, 473 P.2d 581 (Wyo. 1970); In Re Estate of Callnon, 449 P.2d 186 (Cal. 1969); Roberson v. Teel, 20 Ariz. App. 439, 513 P.2d 977 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1973).]

In Miller v. Walker Bank and Trust Co., 404 P.2d 675 (Utah 1965), the Utah Supreme Court held that a decree of distribution became final and conclusive after the expiration of the time for appeal. The Utah Supreme Court reached a similar ruling in Buttars v. Buttars, 631 P.2d 892 (Utah 1981), wherein Justice Oaks held that the terms of a 1962 decree of distribution, having become final, were conclusive and binding on the grantees and heirs. Similarly, in Taylor v. Estate of Taylor, 719 P.2d 234 (Wyo. 1986), the Wyoming Supreme Court held that decrees of distribution are uniformly final and conclusive unless attacked on grounds of fraud. [See also, 31 Am. Jur. 2d Executors and Administrators § 600.]

The merger doctrine operates as a matter of law, and issues of intent or of waiver are not incident to its application. As the right of first refusal itself is not collateral to the taking of title to the property, it is merged and extinguished. Absent a direct attack on the Decree of Final Distribution and deed issuing therefrom, this "right" cannot now be reasserted 13 years after its merger.

V.

THE DOCTRINES OF PROMISSORY AND EQUITABLE
ESTOPPEL BAR JESSE SMITH'S ASSERTION OF
ANY RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL.

Appellant Jesse Smith argues that his invocation of the statute of frauds is a valid defense. However, the invocation of that defense, or, for that matter, any defense, is barred by the doctrines of both promissory and equitable estoppel. The first -- promissory estoppel -- arises only upon an express promise to execute a writing or to perform an act in the future which is relied on by a party to his or her detriment. [See P 4.] Equitable estoppel is yet a broader doctrine to preclude or bar one party from asserting a claim against another. As stated by Justice Crockett, speaking for a unanimous court, in J.P. Koch, Inc. v. J.C. Penny Co., Inc., 534 P.2d 903 (Utah 1975):

The invocation of estoppel does not necessarily involve any contract or agreement between the parties, consequently, the elements of a contract are not involved and there is no requirement of consideration. It is a doctrine of equity to prevent one party from deluding or inducing another into a position where he will unjustly suffer loss. As applicable here, the test is whether there is conduct, by act or omission, by which one party knowingly leads another party, reasonably acting thereon, to take some course of action, which will result in his detriment or damage if the first party is permitted to repudiate or deny his conduct or representation. [P.2d at 904-905]

Cases from other jurisdictions setting out fact situations which are sufficient to support a claim of estoppel are set out in 37 C.J.S. Frauds, Statute of, § 246. [See also, Topik v. Thurber, 739 P.2d 1101 (Utah 1987); Carnesecca v. Carnesecca, 572 P.2d 708 (Utah

1977).]

Salli Smith West testified that she conversed with Jesse Smith at his place of employment on September 26, 1986. [T 71-74] In that conversation, she advised him of the offer from Respondents Anderson and Appleby. Jesse told her to proceed with the sale and that he would provide her a written document evidencing not only his waiver of the first right of refusal, but that of his step-mother and of his wife as well. [Id.] Subsequently, Jesse Smith drafted his letter of September 29, 1986 [P 4], which Salli received on October 2, 1986, the very morning that Respondents showed up in New Mexico to conclude their purchase. [T 75] Jesse's letter stated that he would, upon being provided a copy of the offer to buy and a copy of the sales agreement, execute a release of his first right of refusal. The language of the letter is clear. Salli relied on the representations of her brother, sold the property, and told Respondents that she had resolved a family obligation as a matter of courtesy. [T 64, 67-69, 75-79] She complied with Jesse's requests. [Id.] Respondents Anderson and Appleby similarly relied on Jesse's letter in purchasing Salli's one-third interest. [T 141] The determination of the trial court in its Memorandum Decision is succinct:

Further more, I find that by his representation in the phone conversation and also by the letter, he [Jesse Smith] is estopped from asserting the claim. Mrs. West, in reliance upon his representations, consummated her sale and put herself in a position of jeopardy by his conduct. [R 214]

More complete findings in reference to Jesse Smith's behavior,

which compel the application of the doctrine of estoppel, are set forth at R 242-43.

The trial court clearly chose to believe the testimony of Salli Smith West over that of her brother Jesse E. Smith. Finding of fact no. 17 details the purpose of an en camera telephone call conducted by the trial court investigating a portion of Jesse Smith's testimony. A portion of that finding states as follows:

The Court finds, based upon the credibility of the testimony of Salli Smith, that during this telephone conversation Jesse E. Smith further assured Salli Smith West that he would send her a letter to the effect that he would not exercise his first right of refusal. [R 241]

The Court further found that, three days subsequent to that telephone conversation, Jesse sent the letter marked as P-4, and that Salli reasonably relied on both the oral and written representations of Jesse in allowing Respondents Anderson and Appleby to purchase her interest in the subject matter property. [See Findings of Fact No. 19 and 20 at R 242.] The estoppel doctrine presently bars any assertion by Jesse Smith that he now be allowed to renege on his promise as contained in P-4 and as earlier stated telephonically to Salli. Jesse Smith's oral representations and his letter were acted upon by Salli Smith West to her detriment and, indeed, were relied on by Respondents Anderson and Appleby in completing their purchase.

VI.

JESSE SMITH LACKS THE REQUISITE "CLEAN HANDS" TO ASSERT HIS ALLEGED FIRST RIGHT OF REFUSAL.

Appellant Jesse Smith requested specific performance of

his alleged first right of refusal. Sounding squarely in equity, his case is subject to fundamental equity jurisprudence. The primary principle applicable in an equity case is that one seeking equity must come before the court with clean hands, and this specifically applies "with full force to one seeking specific performance of a contract; he himself must be free from blame." [71 Am. Jur. 2d Specific Performance § 47] Thus, "[I]t is a well-established principle that equity will refuse to grant a decree of specific performance where it appears that the plaintiff was guilty of unfair or inequitable conduct in securing the contract, or that he took inequitable advantage of the other party to the agreement." [Id. at § 45.] Similarly, the Utah Supreme Court has held that "inasmuch as specific performance is an equitable remedy, the trial judge has considerable discretion in determining whether equity in good conscience requires that the relief be granted." [See Ferris v. Jennings, supra.]

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